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          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Good morning. My

          3  name is Councilman Stewart and as the Chairman of

          4  the Immigration Committee, I want to welcome you all

          5  this morning to this hearing on immigration issues.

          6  Before we move to hear testimony on Reso 1153, we

          7  are going to have a Committee vote on Proposition

          8  Intro 592- A. First I want to recognize the

          9  Committee members that are here. Council Member

         10  Barron, Council Member Sears and Council Member

         11  Palma. I want to commend Council Member Vincent

         12  Gentile and Council Member Helen Sears for their

         13  hard work and thoughtfulness on the issue of day

         14  laborers.

         15                 The two of them have been the driving

         16  force behind Intro 592- A which will create a

         17  commission to study the visibility of creating job

         18  centers for day laborers that will jointly

         19  implemented by New York City and community based

         20  organizations. There are approximately 60 sites

         21  Citywide where day laborers congregate to seek

         22  employment. Day laborers who gain employment from

         23  these informal settings often face dangerous working

         24  conditions and significant work place exploitation.

         25  In addition, circumstances surrounding the
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          2  congregation of day laborers on City streets have

          3  generated community concerns.

          4                 Formal job centers that connect day

          5  laborers with perspective employers have proven to

          6  be models of success for day laborers, employers,

          7  and concerned community members. Other jurisdictions

          8  have partnered with community based organizations to

          9  administer job centers that help prevent work place

         10  exploitation while alleviating community concerns

         11  including Los Angeles, which helps administer at

         12  least eight job centers City wide.

         13                 Here in New York City existing job

         14  centers is being run by community based

         15  organizations who seek not only to ensure workers

         16  rights and safety and hold employers accountable,

         17  but provide educational and social services to day

         18  laborers. These centers can help improve the work

         19  place rights and well- being of day laborers while

         20  decreasing the reliance on informal sites that have

         21  created community concerns. Intro 592A represents an

         22  important step to worth creating a solution that

         23  would meet the needs of the day laborers and

         24  communities Citywide. Let me give Council Member

         25  Sears an opportunity to say something on this Intro.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

          3  much. I want to thank the Chair, Dr. Stewart and the

          4  Committee and my colleague, Vincent Gentile for

          5  really bringing this issue today to a vote. I have

          6  some words, but I don't think I need to read them.

          7  Since 2002, I have been dealing with this issue. I

          8  have had meetings with the police, with community

          9  boards, with elected officials on every level of

         10  government and it has been a very, very sensitive

         11  issue. I know there are those that have felt nothing

         12  should be done; most of them are undocumented. And

         13  others feel that we need to do something.

         14                 I, myself having initiated and felt

         15  that when communities are made up of all different

         16  sectors, everyone needs to have attention. Human

         17  dignity is first and foremost what needs to be

         18  preserved, maintained, and kept in our focus. That

         19  doesn't mean that we look to break the law. It

         20  doesn't mean that we ignore the law. It doesn't mean

         21  that we're frivolous in our plight to correct the

         22  wrongs. But it is government's responsibility to

         23  correct the wrongs.

         24                 I bought a book upstate New York and

         25  this issue of day laborers goes back for generations
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          2  and generations and generations. The New York State

          3  water system was put together and developed by day

          4  laborers. We have them to thank for what we reap

          5  today. It goes back to and I have to say in terms of

          6  reading an historical book of what happened. It

          7  behooves us to make this study and I urge the

          8  Committee to vote for it, so that we can look at

          9  exactly for the first time how we address this issue

         10  with sensitivity, with dignity and to look at how we

         11  can bring what is right in the forefront and to do

         12  it.

         13                 It's not an easy issue. It's not an

         14  easy task force that would be developed to deal with

         15  this. But for all of you that are here, I urge you

         16  to remember that New York City is a City of

         17  immigrants. That doesn't mean that we diminish the

         18  importance of the non- immigrants. And when I say

         19  non- immigrants, we are all immigrants, for those

         20  new arrived. Day laborers have been here for years,

         21  for years. It has become a way of life for them

         22  which is very astounding. We need to help them that

         23  they may find their way in this City, that they have

         24  government to help them, and that they can learn.

         25  They can have the resources available, but above
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          2  all, to truly stop the abuses that occur in this

          3  area. Terrible abuses.

          4                 I think that we in government have a

          5  major responsibility to do that. And I want truly

          6  thank you for bringing this together and hopefully

          7  this will be the start after the hearings that we've

          8  had and meetings, this will be the start to really

          9  set the way for people who are lost and are earning

         10  a living in almost anyway that they can who are a

         11  vital part of the economy of the City, to start the

         12  way where they can do this with a support of

         13  everyone. I thank you very much for taking this up

         14  today. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you,

         16  Council Member Sears. Council Member Barron, do you

         17  have a few words?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         19  much, Mr. Chairman. I want to thank Council Member

         20  Sears and Gentile for bringing this intro forward.

         21  Immigrants have paid a great, great price to New

         22  York City. They have increased the intellectual,

         23  cultural, capital of the City and certainly the

         24  economic capital of the City. Immigrants are often

         25  used to compete against others for labor. As a
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          2  person of African ancestry, we know clearly how this

          3  exploitative capitalistic system uses labor to

          4  maximize profits for corporations and industry so

          5  the cheaper that they get labor, the more profits

          6  they can make under capitalism which I think is a

          7  failed experiment.

          8                 Having said that in this particular

          9  instance, day laborers, 75 percent of them make less

         10  than $10 an hour. Many of them are unpaid or

         11  underpaid if they get paid at all. Often times, the

         12  working conditions create injuries for them, using

         13  machinery that they weren't trained to use

         14  particularly in the construction industry and the

         15  restaurant industry, they are very exploited there

         16  and in factories. I think that this is timely. I

         17  think we should pass it unanimously. I'm counting on

         18  my colleagues in the City Council when it gets to

         19  full Council for it to be passed as well. And there

         20  is much more we have to do around this issue. But

         21  this is a great beginning to put the commission

         22  together and protect day laborers and immigrants.

         23  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: At this time,

         25  one of the co- sponsors of the bill has just arrived
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          2  from Council Member John Liu. I would like you to

          3  say a few words, Mr. Liu, on the day laborers bill.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you very

          5  much, Mr. Chairman. I commend you for holding this

          6  hearing and bringing this bill to a vote. This is an

          7  important issue, not only in New York City, but all

          8  throughout the metropolitan region and I dare say in

          9  other parts of the country as well. These are people

         10  who work very hard looking to support themselves and

         11  their families and they congregate in areas where

         12  there are employers picking them up. Many times

         13  these employers exploit these workers, put them in

         14  unsafe working conditions and don't pay them decent

         15  wages. It's high time that we as a Council set up

         16  this commission at the very least so that we can

         17  provide some form and some level of dignity for

         18  these hard working men and women who provide much of

         19  the labor in different parts of our City. Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you. At

         21  this time, we will ask the clerk to call the roll.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Proposed Introduction

         23  592- A, Council Member Stewart.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: First of all, I

         25  would like to state that not all day laborers are
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          2  undocumented. Secondly, these people who are eager

          3  to earn a living and just because we in this City,

          4  those who us who have arrived here years and years

          5  ago are now citizens and have all the privileges

          6  that this democracy is offering doesn't mean that we

          7  should forget those who have just arrived. It

          8  doesn't mean that we should allow under our watch

          9  anyone to be exploited. It's important that we pass

         10  this bill to make sure that under our watch, knowing

         11  the facts, that we should not allow any form of

         12  exploitation regardless whether someone is

         13  undocumented or not. Again, as I said before, not

         14  all day laborers are undocumented. There are a quite

         15  of number of them who are documented. There are

         16  quite a number of them who are citizens and with

         17  that in mind, I vote aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Barron.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Palma.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Permission to

         22  explain my vote? First I want to thank Council

         23  Member Sears and Vincent Gentile for championing

         24  this important bill. For many years, I worked as a

         25  union organizer and I organized day laborers and
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          2  went to sites where these day laborers were being

          3  exploited. I think this bill is long overdue.

          4  Council Member Sears has been working on this since

          5  2002. But from her words she expressed, this has

          6  been going on for many years. I'm really proud today

          7  to be able to vote on this bill and I'm vote aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of three in

          9  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         10  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Members,

         11  please sign the committee report.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: We will keep the

         13  vote open until later. Now we're going to move onto

         14  Reso 1153. Now are going to hear this testimony

         15  regarding this Reso which I have introduced along

         16  with Council Member Bill DeBlasio. The Reso calls

         17  upon the U.S. Immigration Officials to exercise

         18  prosecutorial discretion and not to pursue

         19  deportation orders in compelling cases. Changes in

         20  American Immigration Laws in the 1990's took much

         21  discretion away from judges, but left Immigration

         22  officials at the Department of Homeland Security

         23  with authority to determine whether or not to seek

         24  and enforce removal orders.

         25                 Reso 1153 draws attention to the need
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          2  to ensure that governmental officials charge with

          3  the enforcing of our immigration laws exercise the

          4  discretion that the law gives them to make

          5  appropriate decisions about what type of cases to

          6  pursue and what situation makes the exercise of

          7  discretion to halt proceedings appropriate. The two

          8  specific cases that the Reso highlights are examples

          9  of situations where it does not appear that

         10  immigration enforcement authorities are exercising

         11  their discretion in a thoughtful, humane manner that

         12  takes into account of extraordinary circumstances.

         13                 Mr. Chibueze Okorie, who is here to

         14  speak about his situation today, is clearly an

         15  extremely valuable asset to his community. For over

         16  a decade, he has served his community tirelessly.

         17  Through his work at the Church of Gethsemane and is

         18  his own non- profit organization, he has helped

         19  countless people. He has a young son who is a U.S.

         20  Citizen and lives in New York, who will suffer

         21  greatly were his father be forced to leave this

         22  country.

         23                 Andrea Mortlock, the situation calls

         24  for the exercise of discretion in the name of

         25  humanitarian concerns. Ms. Mortlock became a legal
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          2  U.S. Resident when she arrived in the U.S. After the

          3  age of 15 in 1979. She has two U.S. Citizen children

          4  who both live in New York. She was diagnosed with

          5  HIV/AIDS in 1988. She is severely ill. Forcing her

          6  to return to Jamaica would almost certainly leave

          7  her without the constant medical attention and

          8  support she needs to survive. The Reso calls

          9  attention to the basically unreviewable discretion

         10  immigration authorities have on the current

         11  immigration law to make determinations about where

         12  to use scarce resources to seek and enforce removal

         13  orders. It focuses on the need to ensure that the

         14  government officials who are responsible for

         15  enforcing our immigration laws are making

         16  appropriate decisions about what types of cases to

         17  pursue and what situations make the exercise of

         18  discretion to halt proceedings appropriate.

         19                 Ladies and gentlemen, in the second

         20  case, it is like passing a death sentence to someone

         21  that may have committed some sort of infraction

         22  years and years ago. That to me is so inhumane, that

         23  I think we should really think about what is

         24  actually happening here. At this time, I would like

         25  to call on anyone who wants to make any opening
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          2  remarks on this Reso. Any of the members? Let's move

          3  on. We will call on Professor Leon Wildes, the

          4  Academic Community. Can you please give some

          5  testimony on this case? Sir, you can state your name

          6  and then you may begin.

          7                 PROFESSOR WILDES: My name is Leon

          8  Wildes, W- I- L- D- E- S. I'm an Adjunct Professor

          9  of Law at the Benjamin Cardozo School of Law where I

         10  have taught immigration law for the past 26 years

         11  and run an immigration clinic. I'm also the Senior

         12  Partner of Wildes, Weinberg, Grunblatt & Wildes, and

         13  for the past 45 years have practiced in the special

         14  field of immigration. I've published a lot of stuff

         15  and had the privilege of testifying before Congress

         16  and now very much appreciate the privilege of

         17  testifying here. I can only say that the City of New

         18  York's Council is doing the right thing by taking

         19  this matter under consideration.

         20                 Prosecutorial discretion has always

         21  existed in every system of law. There is no such

         22  thing and there ought never be a kind of law that is

         23  enforced without any discretion whatsoever. I don't

         24  think that the young woman who is a student at

         25  Cardozo who invited me realized she hasn't taken my
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          2  class that I handle the case that set the history in

          3  prosecutorial discretion. That was the case of my

          4  famous client, the former Beattle, John Lennon and

          5  his artist wife, Yoko Ono. As part of litigation in

          6  that case, I brought an action under the Freedom of

          7  Information Act and I requested proof that there was

          8  a program which required the government to use

          9  prosecutorial discretion.

         10                 For years, they had denied that it

         11  even existed. As a result of the disclosures in that

         12  action as to how President Nixon had played some

         13  dirty tricks in the immigration field as well to get

         14  the Lennon's out of the United States, the United

         15  States Attorney for the Southern District insisted

         16  that the provision which had been on the so- called

         17  blue pages of the operations instructions in the

         18  immigration handbook, not available to the public,

         19  be published in the white pages. Then it became in

         20  about 1975, it became public. We learned that the

         21  operations instruction specified that any case in

         22  which there were appealing humanitarian factors,

         23  which might result in the removal of a person under

         24  unconscionable conditions was to be given that

         25  consideration and it set forth the procedure for
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          2  considering it.

          3                 That started a whole unwritten system

          4  of law in immigration and people filed for what they

          5  called nonpriority classification or deferred action

          6  classification which is what the operations

          7  instruction called for. The ninth circuit took up

          8  the case and held based upon a law review article

          9  that I published on the issue, the ninth circuit

         10  held that anyone could claim, go to court, and claim

         11  he was entitled to that kind of consideration. The

         12  11th circuit differed from that also based upon my

         13  writings.

         14                 After a few years, the immigration

         15  reworded the regulation and said that it was only a

         16  question of prosecutorial discretion that because of

         17  their limited resources and the enormity of the job

         18  they had been charged to carry out, they had the

         19  authority to do that, but no person could go to

         20  court or enforce it. Unbeknown to all of us,

         21  including myself and I've published several law

         22  review articles on the subject, they recently

         23  removed it from the operations instruction which

         24  would never have been possible had they done the job

         25  correctly and put it in the Federal register which
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          2  would had required notice to the public.

          3                 As a result, over a period of years,

          4  they have systematically tried to remove and limit

          5  the effect of the prosecutorial discretion. The most

          6  recent document, I believe, was a document in 2000

          7  by the then INS Commissioner, Doris Meissner, on the

          8  day she left office, she felt that there was

          9  something left undone. And she issued a memorandum

         10  saying that it's appropriate and expected that the

         11  INS will exercise this authority in appropriate

         12  cases that supervisory officials shall encourage

         13  their personnel to bring potentially suitable cases

         14  for the favorable exercise of discretion to their

         15  attention for appropriate resolution. She added a

         16  paragraph which was intended to keep these cases out

         17  of court because the courts have been the greatest

         18  protector of aliens in the United States. She said

         19  that the principals set forth in this memo are

         20  intended solely for the guidance of INS personnel in

         21  performing their duties. They are not intended and

         22  may not be relied upon to create a right or benefit,

         23  et cetera.

         24                 I can only say that I'm very

         25  favorably impressed that the City of New York
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          2  Council has taken this issue up, Mr. Chairman. I

          3  believe that there is a lot to be done here and that

          4  with the prestige of this Committee and the Council,

          5  a lot further could be done. Prosecutorial

          6  discretion is an absolute requirement because the

          7  government can't conceivably carry out its mandate

          8  in the immigration field. There are millions of

          9  undocumented aliens in this country because of the

         10  government's inability to handle it. Certainly, it

         11  ought to be taken up and the fact that it's taken up

         12  here is very, very important in the field, in my

         13  opinion.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You have me

         15  somewhat numb because of the fact of your great

         16  knowledge in this immigration issue. It is like I'm

         17  yearning for more as you wind down there.

         18  Nevertheless, I would ask Council Member John Liu, I

         19  think he has a question.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chairman. We certainly appreciate your very expert

         22  testimony in this matter and it's a resolution that

         23  I feel very strongly about. There have been many

         24  cases in our community where it's just hard to

         25  understand the logic that is followed by the
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          2  authorities when they proceed with deportation

          3  orders and the likes. The prosecutorial discretion,

          4  I heard you testify and we have materials here that

          5  talk about prosecutorial discretion in the matter of

          6  removal orders. Is it only limited to removal

          7  orders? What about discretion before a removal order

          8  is actually issued?

          9                 PROFESSOR WILDES: What I was

         10  referring to was actually considering prosecutorial

         11  discretion before a removal or deportation case is

         12  commenced. That is the purpose of the non- priority

         13  program that I discovered under the Freedom of

         14  Information Act. And it is every alien's right

         15  through counsel or on their own to request that

         16  consideration. Typically, that's when it should be

         17  raised. Once you're in the hands of an immigration

         18  judge, that immigration judge has very limited

         19  jurisdiction because the remedies particularly for

         20  drug offenses and serious offenses, the remedies

         21  have been cut back by the legislation that was

         22  enacted in 1996. There is not as much that we can do

         23  in a deportation hearing for an alien as we used to

         24  be able to do. It's very important in my opinion

         25  that these cases reach the government before.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: What about the

          3  decision on the part of the agency to go after an

          4  individual or individuals that they know are not

          5  documented? Even before an order or a court

          6  proceeding is brought to bear?

          7                 PROFESSOR WILDES: What do you mean by

          8  go after?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, let's say

         10  the Office of Immigration and Customs Enforcement,

         11  they know of an individual or individuals by name

         12  and possibly by address, are they required to go

         13  after that individual or those individuals and begin

         14  deportation proceedings?

         15                 PROFESSOR WILDES: Well, that is a

         16  mandate. They are required, the law specifies that

         17  they should. They have the authority to arrest

         18  without a warrant in most circumstances and so on.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: They have the

         20  authority, of course. But are they required to go

         21  after these individuals that they know about?

         22                 PROFESSOR WILDES: No, I don't think

         23  that there is a requirement that they have to go

         24  after any particular --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So the discretion
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          2  exists at that level as well.

          3                 PROFESSOR WILDES: Absolutely. It

          4  seems to me that the moment these compassionate

          5  elements are brought to their attention, just as

          6  Commissioner Meissner said when she left office,

          7  they have an obligation to let their superiors know

          8  that there may be such compassionate elements in the

          9  case and perhaps it ought to be considered. By

         10  taking this out of the law, removing it stealthily,

         11  nobody has ever mentioned it and I watch this like a

         12  hawk and I never noticed it. It was only the author

         13  of the case book that I use who called me recently

         14  and said he can't find it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: All right. I just

         16  want to be clear because this is a question that

         17  I've often wondered and I really haven't been able

         18  to get a straight answer to. This agency whether it

         19  be ICE or whatever, is it ICE? I always thought it

         20  was the borough. This office of Immigration of

         21  Customs Enforcement, they are not required to go

         22  after every single individual that they know is

         23  undocumented?

         24                 PROFESSOR WILDES: I don't think that

         25  there is a law that says that they have too. But
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          2  essentially, that's where the Americans pay their

          3  taxes for, paying their salaries and so on. What I'm

          4  saying is that when they do their job and they do

          5  pick somebody up, they should have the good faith to

          6  present the other side of the case before they start

          7  a proceeding and issue a document requiring that

          8  person to appear in a deportation matter.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. I guess it

         10  works both ways. We have one case of a person whose

         11  name and picture was splashed all over the

         12  newspapers actually in violation of a City Mayoral

         13  order and fortunately the agency does not seem to

         14  have gone after this person. But on the other hand,

         15  we have cases where 17- year- old high school

         16  students who have lived nearly their entire lives in

         17  New York City are put through deportation hearings

         18  and actually deported. I'm glad to see that even at

         19  that level before the agency goes after individuals

         20  that there is some discretion. But Mr. Chairman, I

         21  have to say even though we asked them to exercise

         22  discretion, at some point we also need to get a

         23  better understanding what criteria are used in

         24  exercising that discretion so that the enforcement

         25  is not completely or near completely so active.
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          2                 PROFESSOR WILDES: If I might suggest

          3  it, perhaps your resolution should actually quote

          4  the provision that says the standard for this and

          5  recommend that in every case when these elements

          6  appear to be there, the government officials should

          7  bring it to the attention of a supervisory officer

          8  and find out whether or not a proceeding should in

          9  fact begin because of those elements.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Council Member

         13  Martinez.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chair. I want to go on the record as wanting to

         16  be also a co- sponsor of the resolution. For some

         17  reason or another, I'm not on there yet. I just want

         18  to make sure that happens, and also commend you on

         19  this important piece of legislation. This City

         20  Council since 2002 has addressed many issues

         21  concerning immigrant rights and the issue of

         22  deportation and the separation of families. Looking

         23  at it with a practical point of view and

         24  understanding the complex in our jurisdiction as

         25  local government, we pass resolution calling on the
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          2  State to enact legislation that will require by law

          3  that the penial code at our local courts, judges,

          4  prosecutors and defense attorneys, issue warnings to

          5  individuals that plea bargaining could be subject to

          6  a deportation proceeding afterwards.

          7                 We have heard from Legal Aid Society,

          8  we've heard from courts, we've heard from many

          9  individuals that say well we do that anyway. What

         10  we're asking for at the Council and I want to hear

         11  your opinion on this and what we're asking at the

         12  City Council is that if a judge in fact fails to

         13  ensure that this person was warned, that that plea

         14  bargain does not stand on the book. In other words,

         15  we're doing this as a protocol, but more as a

         16  procedurally process before a person accepts a plea

         17  bargain. One of the rationale is that we're trying

         18  to act locally to prevent more of these cases to

         19  happen since we found that many individuals both by

         20  the defense attorney, mind you, and prosecutors,

         21  they say if you plea bargain, it's only going to be

         22  a year. Or you're going to do some probationary time

         23  and it's over. Well, it's not over because many

         24  individuals find themselves with deportation

         25  proceedings.  I wanted to get your opinion on the
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          2  State also stepping up to the plate and taking some

          3  responsibility in protecting some of the individuals

          4  rights as to remaining in the states.

          5                 PROFESSOR WILDES: I really believe

          6  that it should be a judge's responsibility in every

          7  criminal case to determine whether the person before

          8  him is a citizen of the United States or not and if

          9  not, to determine that the true effect of his

         10  judgment because if he says I'm going to imprison

         11  this guy for six months and in effect what he's

         12  saying is, I'm going to imprison him for six months

         13  and banish him from his home and country for the

         14  rest of his life or for five or ten years, then he's

         15  not entering a judgment that makes sense. I would

         16  say that it should be the obligation of the judge to

         17  determine that. He should question counsel as to

         18  whether he is familiar with the immigration law,

         19  whether he has sought expert advise and I have to

         20  tell you that I've handle cases with some of the

         21  best criminal attorney's in town where they have

         22  goofed. They thought they were given the right

         23  advice and actually they were not. The person was

         24  deported after that. I believe you are being very

         25  sensitive to an important issue and I believe it
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          2  should be the judge's responsibility.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Should there

          4  be any remedies if that does not happen? For

          5  example, if you plea bargain and that did not happen

          6  in terms of the judge ensuring that the person was

          7  warned, ensuring what you just mentioned then that

          8  plea bargain does not stand and the a whole process

          9  would start?

         10                 PROFESSOR WILDES: If I were drafting

         11  a statute for the State, I would say that should

         12  amount to an automatic reopening of the sentencing

         13  provision so that it could be determined correctly

         14  what is the sentence in a given case.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: My second

         16  question has to do with some of the facts that you

         17  mentioned in terms of the limitations of the judges

         18  now a days in the immigration court. Wouldn't you

         19  consider that a violation of due process for an

         20  individual before the deportation process that now

         21  is in the hands of the attorney general to determine

         22  whether he waives or not.

         23                 PROFESSOR WILDES: You mean whether

         24  it's a violation of due process that the Attorney

         25  General did not consider prosecutorial discretion?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No. The

          3  legislator has limited by legislation many of the

          4  discretion of the court in terms of waiving

          5  deportation when a case comes before the court. In

          6  other words, if I'm before the court, I'm expected

          7  to get a fair process to reconsider my staying in

          8  the states. However, what I'm understand you're

          9  telling me and from reading some of the information

         10  here, it's telling me that no. That now it's not up

         11  to the court to waive that deportation process that

         12  it falls more under the hands of the Attorney

         13  General.

         14                 PROFESSOR WILDES: Yes, the statute

         15  specifies the limited remedies that are available to

         16  an immigration judge and if a person has only nine

         17  years of residence and not ten years of residence,

         18  he cannot grant him a cancellation of deportation

         19  and so on. You're now talking to Congress to

         20  liberalize these terribly difficult statutes

         21  especially with respect to criminal behavior that

         22  were enacted in 1996. It is an absolute from the

         23  standpoint of someone practicing for 45 years, I

         24  think that there is less than I can do today for a

         25  client, notwithstanding my experience, then I could
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          2  have done years ago because of what Congress did in

          3  1996.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I'm glad you

          5  highlighted the year, 1996. Because this all

          6  happened when we speak about partisan politics, it

          7  all happened under a democratic administration and

          8  that's the shocking to many people when they come to

          9  my office and I find myself telling them there is

         10  not much we can do. When people cry, well these

         11  republican conservatives, I tell them no. It was not

         12  a republican conservative. It was a democratic

         13  administration who did this and approved it. These

         14  are some of the things that sometimes your mouth

         15  stays open in shock. Do you foresee Congress

         16  reviewing this and amending it and changing it?

         17                 PROFESSOR WILDES: We're hoping for

         18  that. But unfortunately, it's not looking that way.

         19  Notwithstanding an excellent general bill that was

         20  introduced by Senator Kennedy, which is bilateral

         21  and bipartisan, the Congress does not seem to be in

         22  a mood of making immigration more liberal. That's

         23  what I appreciate about the way this Committee takes

         24  it up. You're taking it up from a human standpoint.

         25  When this gets to Congress, it is unfortunately a
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          2  political thing. If you come from a state, not like

          3  New York, where aliens are very important to your

          4  re- election or your reappointment or whatever, but

          5  you come from a state where you are only interested

          6  in getting an Air Force base or getting a bridge

          7  fixed or something, you will sell your vote on

          8  immigration to anybody who will vote in favor of

          9  something for your state. That is the difficulty.

         10                 I don't think that the Congress has

         11  heard cases like this. These cases, I could give you

         12  much more serious ones from my own practice, these

         13  cases are heart rendering. I think that these

         14  Congressmen are approached by their constituents

         15  sometimes and they are embarrassed by the fact that

         16  the law they are challenging is something they voted

         17  for without really realizing how serious an act they

         18  were doing. It goes back as you say to 1996. It has

         19  never been as bad.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Mr. Wildes, I

         22  heard you mention something concerning the

         23  discretion of a judge in about ten years. You're

         24  saying the only time the judge can really waive the

         25  deportation order based on discretion is if that
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          2  person has lived here for ten years?

          3                 PROFESSOR WILDES: That's one

          4  provision of the law. When you come before an

          5  immigration judge in a deportation case, you either

          6  oppose the charge of deportation. You're not in over

          7  stay. This is not criminal offense, et cetera. Or

          8  you acknowledge that it's so and then you ask for

          9  your discretionary remedies. They are very limited

         10  now. They are very limited. If it is cancellation of

         11  deportation and your client is not an American with

         12  a green card, if he doesn't have the ten years and

         13  the extreme hardship to a certain relative and so

         14  on, the judge can't consider that provision of law.

         15  Other provisions of law which were broader were

         16  removed from the law in 1996. There were amended and

         17  removed from the law. And what we are left with are

         18  very limited options for the immigration judge. I've

         19  seen an immigration judge get very upset because

         20  they can't do anything. This is not a case that

         21  should have been before them.

         22                 I had a particular client who paid a

         23  $60 fine and was up before a deportation case

         24  because of something to do with the way government

         25  interpreted a word in the statute, a fraud or
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          2  dealing with a government official. It had never

          3  been in. I came in and pleaded with the government's

          4  trial attorney to interpret it a different way at a

          5  different ground to go on; this man is a family man

          6  with citizen children and so on. To make a long

          7  story short, the immigration judge screamed at that

          8  trial attorney and said, you've got to have a heart

          9  with these cases. Look at what kind of a case you've

         10  brought here. And finally, they relented. I'm only

         11  saying that there should be more remedies in the law

         12  for immigration judges to act on. Many of them would

         13  act favorably if they were given greater scope.

         14  Before it even gets to a deportation hearing, the

         15  option not to bring the hearing should have been

         16  gone through by the government.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Mr. Wildes, I

         18  want to thank you for your insightful testimony

         19  because you cleared up quite a number of issues

         20  there. We are glad we have advocates like yourself

         21  out there who are working on behalf of immigrants;

         22  people who may not have the same opportunity as we

         23  do.

         24                 PROFESSOR WILDES: Thank you for the

         25  privilege.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: At this time, I

          3  would like to open back the roll on 592- A. I'd like

          4  to have the clerk call the roll again.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Fidler.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

          8  Martinez.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Mr. Chair,

         10  again I want to vote aye and I want to again request

         11  that my name be listed on the resolution. Aye on

         12  all.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right, thank

         14  you. Our next panel will be Rev. Liz Alexander;

         15  Chibueze Okorie, Ray Rios, and Professor Eleanor

         16  Moody Shephard. If you can please just identify

         17  yourself and then tell us what you would like to

         18  tell us today.

         19                 MR. OKORIE: Thank you. I thank you

         20  for having me here today. I thank my friends. My

         21  name is Chibueze Okorie. I am the Minister of

         22  Evangelism of the Church of Gethsemane in Park

         23  Slope, Brooklyn. I'm here today to tell you about

         24  myself and about immigration proceeding against me

         25  for the drug related crime I committed in 1989.
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          2                 I made this mistake not knowing the

          3  consequences of what I was going in and I was a

          4  young youth and today I'm a changed man. This

          5  mistake has led me many ways throughout my life. It

          6  has led me to the church. It has also thrown my life

          7  around. As a minister of Evangelism of the Church of

          8  Gethsemane, one of the things I do there is

          9  coordinate the programs that benefit those who are

         10  in prison. I believe that people can change and I

         11  believe that we can all walk together to help those

         12  who are in need and who seek for the change. We

         13  should give them the opportunity like the way the

         14  Church of Gethsemane gave to me when I was in

         15  prison.

         16                 One of the jobs I do which are very,

         17  very important to those in prison is that I always

         18  write letters of reassurance to help those who are

         19  about to be released and those who are about to see

         20  the parole board. I want to also give them

         21  directions and referrals which they need upon their

         22  release. I coordinate the Church of Gethsemane

         23  membership which record seven part membership for

         24  those in prison. This benefit those who are in

         25  entrusted in our membership and upon their release
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          2  they will come to the church and I will counsel them

          3  and help them with whatever needs they may need. I

          4  send care packages to those in prison. Most inmates

          5  have no family members and friends. I try to get

          6  assistance for them by sending care packages and the

          7  other assistance they need in prison.

          8                 Turning my life around have always

          9  helped me. It helps me to be able to help when

         10  coordinating some job in the community where I live.

         11  I visit the homeless shelters and the hospitals

         12  trying to coordinate my associates in helping those

         13  who are in need. The most important thing that I

         14  achieve so much is to give and organize and founded

         15  an organization that is called Community Central

         16  Reentry Incorporation which is a not- for- profit

         17  organization for the purpose of providing support

         18  under reintegration of those in prison who are about

         19  to be released in the community. This organization

         20  is a dream come true to me.

         21                 Now, I have this proceeding against

         22  me because of the 1989 crime conviction I have. I

         23  have tried in every way I can to let this go behind

         24  me. But it has been very hard. I feel very sorry and

         25  very remorseful for seeing myself in this position.
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          2  But at the same time I have utilized all my

          3  resources and energy in trying to help those who are

          4  still in the system. I have a six- year- old child

          5  who I love and adore so much. His name is Chigozie.

          6  I have seven other siblings back in Nigeria. I have

          7  an ill mother. All these people depend on the money

          8  I send to them every month. I cannot have a good

          9  life or I will not have the freedom that I have here

         10  today if I go to Nigeria. I will not even have

         11  employment. I'm not sure about my well- being if I

         12  am sent to Nigeria. The Nigeria government have a

         13  system if you are arrested who have committed drug

         14  related crime who have been deported from overseas,

         15  it is likely that I will be rearrested and put in

         16  prison for another five years. I may not be tried.

         17  This system has been going on in Nigeria for many

         18  years now.

         19                 I have tried all my best. It is not

         20  that I'm not sorry for what happened to me, but at

         21  the same time I changed my life. I help those who

         22  are still trapped in this system and I'm working and

         23  I still want to do more for the community where I

         24  live and be able to help those who need assistance.

         25  I believe today with this organization that I
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          2  founded, I believe that it will help most of our

          3  young youth who are coming out from prison. At the

          4  same time, it will reduce the cycle within our

          5  community. I believe that if somebody is released

          6  from prison and without the resources, he or she

          7  need to help their lives, it is likely that a person

          8  will go back and commit same crime that sent them to

          9  prison. This is why I try to help my community where

         10  I live and founded this organization which takes me

         11  up to four years to establish and to put this

         12  together. That is why I am here today. I don't want

         13  to take the whole time. I thank you so much for

         14  having me. Thank you.

         15                 REV. ALEXANDER: Thank you for letting

         16  me speak on behalf of Mr. Chibueze Okorie. My name

         17  is Rev. Liz Alexander and I'm the Pastor of the

         18  Church of Gethsemane where Chibueze and I are

         19  associates. We serve in a unique congregation that

         20  was founded by prisoners, ex prisoners and their

         21  families. Mr. Okorie's own experience in prison and

         22  his personal transformation and commitment to

         23  helping others to change their lives as he has

         24  changed his has been an inspiration to all who are

         25  involved in our ministry.
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          2                 His 14 years of service to the Church

          3  of Gethsemane and the Brooklyn Community has been

          4  recognized by community organizations and the City

          5  of New York. He has received numerous citations of

          6  commendation including a citation from the City

          7  Council. Recently, his deportation case has been

          8  reported in over seven newspaper articles drawing

          9  attention to the public about this case and the

         10  articles you can see many from the Daily News and

         11  also from the New York Times. Letters of support

         12  address to the prosecuting attorney regarding the

         13  issue that you have raised with your resolution

         14  about prosecutorial discretion have been constantly

         15  been poring in from individuals who's lives Mr.

         16  Okorie has touched. Many of these are from people

         17  who are still behind bars. Others are people who

         18  have been formerly incarcerated and are now

         19  productive members of our society. Some letters have

         20  been from family members who have loved ones in

         21  prison who Mr. Okorie has helped. Other letters are

         22  from community members and friends.

         23                 Nineteen letters have been received

         24  from elected officials including five members of

         25  this Council. There were letters from Council Member
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          2  Charles Barron, Council Member Kendall Stewart,

          3  Council Member Yvette D. Clarke, Council Member Bill

          4  DeBlasio and Council Member Letitia James. All have

          5  sent letters to the prosecuting attorney and ask

          6  that he use the discretion in this case.

          7                 Mr. Okorie is also waiting for a

          8  pardon from the President of the United States. We

          9  have just heard a couple of weeks ago that the

         10  pardon is still pending. Over 700 signatures were

         11  obtained on a petition seeking that Mr. Okorie's

         12  case be dropped based on his community service. The

         13  members and staff of Church of Gethsemane request

         14  that you pass this resolution and that it help not

         15  only be a benefit to Mr. Okorie, but to many other

         16  people. His six- year- old son Chigozie who was born

         17  in this country and how is loved and supported

         18  financially by Mr. Okorie begs you to help him in

         19  anyway that you are able to allow his father to stay

         20  here in this country with him.

         21                 Mr. Okorie faces possible prosecution

         22  if he is forced to return to his homeland, Nigeria.

         23  Deportees are routinely imprisoned and even tortured

         24  when they are sent back. Mr. Okorie turn state

         25  evidence also in his trial and as you mentioned the
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          2  plea bargaining was not clear to him at that time.

          3  He does fear retaliation as well from the plea

          4  bargaining that went on in his case. There are many

          5  reasons why it is important that he be allowed to

          6  remain not only for the benefit of his son's life

          7  and for the benefit of the Church of Gethsemane, it

          8  also would benefit the life of the community and our

          9  City and for the security of his own life and the

         10  work that he has truly called to do.

         11                 Mr. Okorie made mistakes in the past

         12  which he has paid for. God has provided him with an

         13  opportunity to not only change his life, but the

         14  lives of many others. Mr. Okorie has made this

         15  country his home and he has made the disinherited

         16  and discarded people of our society his life work.

         17  Surely, our government can see value in allowing him

         18  to stay. Thank you.

         19                 MR. RIOS: Good morning. My name is

         20  Ray Rios. I was personally helped by Chibueze on my

         21  journey in life. I believe in a positive change and

         22  anyone under the right mentorship --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I think your mic

         24  is off.

         25                 MR. RIOS: Thank you. My name is Ray
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          2  Rios. Chibueze has helped me on my adventure in life

          3  for the past few years. I believe in positive change

          4  and anyone under the right mentorship can move

          5  mountains. I believe in God. I believe that He has

          6  the power to transform our lives. I believe in

          7  angels. God at a lot of times in our lives sends

          8  angels and for me, Chibueze Okorie has been an angel

          9  in my life for the past decade. I'm a graduate of

         10  New York Theological Seminary; their special program

         11  that they have the Sing Sing campus, which is Sing

         12  Sing correctional facility. This is when our

         13  relationship first started when we started writing

         14  when I was at Sing Sing correction facility.

         15                 The Church of Gethsemane has a

         16  special membership program and I was very interested

         17  in signing up and becoming a member because it is a

         18  church in my local community which I live in Clinton

         19  Hill, Brooklyn. I'm a violent felony offender. I'm

         20  one of those people that society deems not to really

         21  release. I went through three parole boards and was

         22  denied each time until I had conditional release

         23  which society had basically had no option to let me

         24  go. When I came home after ten years in prison, I

         25  came home with $40 and a dream like most people do
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          2  about starting over from prison and having a new

          3  life. Many fail, we know that. Some reintegrate well

          4  and a few people go on to really change their lives

          5  and become part of society and began repaying that

          6  debt.

          7                 My journey was nine months of job

          8  searching, no money, a lot of family issues and for

          9  me mostly discouragement was my reality. But through

         10  all of that, my brother, a very important term, and

         11  that's how Chibueze always called me, my brother. I

         12  will come to the church and this was when I wasn't

         13  working, just to do things and Chibueze was always

         14  there. We would write letters. We would paint, we

         15  would make flowers. We would pack food packages and

         16  I felt very needed. I felt that I was part of

         17  something. Chibueze shared a story with me about

         18  being formerly incarcerated and it was always an

         19  inspiration to me. Life got a lot better. I got a

         20  great job and I have a wife and I have a child and

         21  actually purchased a home in Red Hook, Brooklyn.

         22                 Chibueze has also been with me. He

         23  has always encouraged me. At church, I got to play

         24  Santa for two years. That's something I didn't think

         25  I would ever do. I'm a deacon. I was a deacon,
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          2  actually now I'm an elder in a Presbyterian Church.

          3  I've been voted in through the Church of Gethsemane.

          4  And I owe most of this to my brother, Chibueze.

          5  Sending him away will cause unknown damage to our

          6  community. I don't think a lot of people realize the

          7  effect Chibueze has in writing people in prison;

          8  actively he writes 50 people. A lot of those people

          9  are people society deems worthless. Society deems

         10  the fact that they should never be let out. But they

         11  are going to come home sooner or later. They need

         12  mentorship and they need friends.

         13                 If you have a friend and you feel

         14  part of community, you are less likely to hurt that

         15  community. It's really hard to imagine a world

         16  without Chibueze writing those letters, welcoming

         17  people home, building their lives, and doing things

         18  like they could be proud of. I see his son and my

         19  son play everyday when we go to church on Sunday, in

         20  the pews. Chigozie is something he looks forward too

         21  and my son, River (phonetic) and him have a ball.

         22                 Again, like I said to deport him

         23  would be for a lack of better words, a sin. A sin

         24  against the community, my community. The City

         25  Council was empowered to protect us. They are also
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          2  empowered to serve us and at this point, as a voter,

          3  I hope that you guys really step up to the bat in

          4  this case and I know you will because you guys seem

          5  to have your heart in your right place at this

          6  point. I thank you for your time.

          7                 MS. SHEPHARD: Good morning. My name

          8  is Dr. Eleanor Moody Shephard and I'm an Associate

          9  Dean and I'm the Director of the Certificate Program

         10  at New York Theological Seminary. I'm also a Pastor

         11  of a Presbyterian Church, Brook Presbyterian Church

         12  in Hillburn, New York. I come here today

         13  representing Chibueze, not just Chibueze Okorie, but

         14  the people of New York and of the world. Because we

         15  realize that they are people like him that are

         16  working for people the least of us. It is important

         17  to have those kind of people.

         18                 As I was listening to the former

         19  speaker, he talked about having graduated from the

         20  Certificate Program at Sing Sing Prison. I say this

         21  because New York Theological Seminary has been

         22  working with people incarcerated for over 25 years.

         23  We have been able to develop statistics to be able

         24  to show that the work that we do and also talk about

         25  the correctional system that both Chibueze and the
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          2  last speaker talked about. We work in partnership.

          3  And why we often think about the correction

          4  assistance as being punishment, but they do provide

          5  a space where people can be transformed. New York

          6  Theological Seminary has stepped into that space so

          7  that we can be partners and helping them to

          8  transform their lives.

          9                 I met Mr. Okorie in 1997. He came to

         10  New York Theological Seminary seeking to bring

         11  together both the theory and the practice of

         12  ministry. He realized that he needed to develop the

         13  kind of skills so that he could maximize his

         14  interest. He said that he was really interested in

         15  helping people. But he realized that he needed

         16  additional skills. He came to New York Theological

         17  Seminary in 1997 as a student in the Certificate

         18  Program of Christian Ministry. And I can tell you as

         19  the Director of that program, I was there with him

         20  every step of the way. He demonstrated academic

         21  excellence. Not only did he show that he had the

         22  intellectual capacity, he also showed that he had

         23  the commitment and the focus. I doubt whether he

         24  missed a day. If I check his attendance, I'm sure he

         25  was there every class, every time the doors opened
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          2  for class. His records show that he did the work. He

          3  was there and not only did he do the academic work

          4  and he came there because he wanted to become more

          5  skilled and more knowledgeable, he was a leader

          6  among his peers. He stepped up and he demonstrated

          7  with the students that he was a leader.

          8                 He helped to organize events for the

          9  students. In addition to that, he got involved in

         10  the prison ministry and the service that we were

         11  providing for the prisoners and that's why he would

         12  go to Sing Sing when we had special programs there.

         13  That's how he started networking because he knew at

         14  that time that he had a mission and he started

         15  working on that mission and it wasn't because one

         16  said that you should do this. He recognized his own

         17  transformation and what was necessary because there

         18  were people there for him when he was released. He

         19  had started that transformation journey. But we also

         20  need to know that he's providing for the people he

         21  comes in contact with, what he receives from us. New

         22  York Theological Seminary mission is to provide

         23  service to the community so that we look for

         24  opportunities to do that.

         25                 Mr. Okorie has been connected with
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          2  that. I've known him since 1997 and our relationship

          3  has been that of colleagues as well as mentors. He

          4  is always involved with anything; he always calls me

          5  and asks me if there is something that I can do to

          6  continue the work that we're doing together.

          7  Consequently, I have been involved in this

          8  particular movement, if you will, and I call it a

          9  movement, to bring some justice to the immigration

         10  laws and particularly dealing with his issue. I have

         11  written letters to the President of the United

         12  States. I have written letters to other City

         13  officials, over and over so that we can bring

         14  attention his plight and in bringing attention to

         15  his plight, it would bring attention to others.

         16                 I know that Mr. Okorie has changed.

         17  Not only does he say he has changed, but his works

         18  speak for him. I will continue to work with him and

         19  others so that we can bring attention and justice to

         20  the people are facing deportation and facing the

         21  kind of situation that separates them from the

         22  family and separate them from the work that they are

         23  doing for the rest of humanity. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You all were so

         25  good. I feel if I had the powers of a stroke of pen,

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  I would have corrected that problem that we have

          3  right now. At this time, I would like to call on the

          4  co- sponsor of this resolution, Mr. Bill DeBlasio,

          5  Council Member Bill DeBlasio.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Thank you

          7  very much, Mr. Chairman. First I want to thank you,

          8  Mr. Chairman, for your leadership on this issue and

          9  for not only introducing this resolution but for

         10  giving it such prominent attention and making sure

         11  there was a hearing and that we're really trying to

         12  get the entire governmental community of New York

         13  City to focus on this issue. I appreciate your

         14  leadership and your activism. I also want to

         15  congratulate you on the passage earlier of Intro

         16  592- A, which I think is a big step forward in terms

         17  of the day laborers issue.

         18                 On this issue, this is personal for

         19  all of us. I want to thank this whole panel, but let

         20  me just speak now as someone who represents Park

         21  Slope in Brooklyn. I want to welcome, of course, Mr.

         22  Okorie, but also Rev. Alexander and thank you both

         23  for what you have done for our community. Your

         24  church happens to be about two blocks from my house.

         25  I've passed it for ten or 15 years all the time and
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          2  have always seen the amazing work happening there. I

          3  admire greatly your mission and your achievements.

          4  It is truly strange to me that we have to sit here

          5  and talk about our federal government, for whatever

          6  reason, potentially disrupting that work.

          7                 One of the things I feel very

          8  strongly is that sometimes our friends in the fellow

          9  government have to remember that our system is based

         10  on respect for locality. It's what the framers of

         11  our system intended and clearly all of us here at

         12  the local level have been saying that we need the

         13  federal government to show discretion in these

         14  cases. When local representatives and I know I'm one

         15  of many who have seen the good work you've done,

         16  when local representatives say this is not just

         17  someone who is a good human being, this is someone

         18  who is doing tremendous service to our community.

         19  And to take him away from our community, leaves us

         20  at a loss. That should be not only recognized, but

         21  yielded to by the federal government.

         22                 We all understand the environment

         23  we're working in and the difficulties we're facing

         24  around the world. But nonetheless, it comes down to

         25  each individual and looking at each case for what it
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          2  is. It also comes down to defending the interest of

          3  each individual United States citizen including your

          4  child. We've also tried to draw attention to the

          5  case of Ms. Mortlock and what it would do her two

          6  children if she were to be deported. Our government

          7  should be defending the interest of United States

          8  citizens who happen to be minors who would be so

          9  horribly harmed if their parent could not be with

         10  them.

         11                 On so many levels, it is obvious here

         12  that you deserve justice. You deserve to stay in our

         13  community and our community needs you. I'm troubled

         14  that there are not representatives from the Federal

         15  government here. I think they should be hearing this

         16  and should be weighing it as well as all the other

         17  formal processes. I think Chairman Stewart and I as

         18  we talked about this, had a true sense of mission

         19  that we have to bring every possible attention to

         20  this matter. When the system itself doesn't always

         21  work, maybe a public outcry will get people to stand

         22  up and take notice. All I can say, a lot of people,

         23  a lot of people in the Park Slope community and a

         24  lot of people throughout New York City deeply

         25  appreciate all of you and particularly, Mr. Okorie
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          2  and we want you to stay. Thank you. Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chairman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you,

          5  Council Member DeBlasio. I would like to call

          6  Council Member Lou Fidler. I think he may have a few

          7  questions.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Good morning.

          9  Mr. Okorie, your case is pending now at the service.

         10  Is that correct?

         11                 MR. OKORIE: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Who is the

         13  trial attorney who is directly responsible for your

         14  case?

         15                 MR. OKORIE: His name is Raymond Duvia

         16  (phonetic).

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Do you know

         18  who his supervising trial attorney is?

         19                 MR. OKORIE: His name is Mr. Brian

         20  Myers (phonetic).

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Everyone who

         22  participates in this Committee knows that I'm

         23  probably the only member of the Committee that has

         24  practiced in this area of the law for many, many

         25  years. You are the classic case of what used to be
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          2  called the 212 sea waiver. That was undone in 1996

          3  by Congress. I would be very, very proud to send a

          4  letter on your behalf. Perhaps, I can't say that

          5  either of those two names are people that I remember

          6  having worked with as a private attorney. But

          7  perhaps someone at the service will remember my name

          8  and see City Council letterhead. Perhaps I can talk

          9  in the lingo that they are used to hearing,

         10  government speak, to explain to them why if we could

         11  roll back the clock to 1995, that you would be

         12  granted this waiver in a heartbeat.

         13                 Having said that, I have tried what

         14  used to be 212 sea waivers in down state, Fish Kill

         15  and the hell hole in New Jersey, Veraut Street

         16  (phonetic), federal plaza and will tell you that I

         17  don't think this resolution goes far enough because

         18  we have a class of people who no longer are entitled

         19  to relief because Congress in its over reaction to a

         20  problem passed an act in 1996 that deprives them of

         21  relief. I have always felt that there was truly a

         22  deprivation of due process of law. Whether it was

         23  with citizens of the United States, a permanent

         24  resident or someone who just happens to enjoy the

         25  privilege of being here on our shores.
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          2                 I would like to be added to this

          3  resolution. But I would ask the sponsors if they

          4  would consider adding a clause to it calling upon

          5  Congress to reinstate the right to make an

          6  application for this relief to an immigration judge.

          7  It's wonderful to ask people in the service to

          8  exercise discretion. Quite frankly, in my 18 or 19

          9  years of practice, I've seen some of the discretion

         10  that has been used, I'm sorry, I still call it INS,

         11  in the most arbitrary capricious and absurd manners.

         12  You come to a citizenship hearing and one person is

         13  asked to demonstrate their ability to speak English

         14  by writing the sentence I want to be a citizen. And

         15  then the next person walks into the room is given a

         16  compound multiple phrase sentence that's difficult

         17  for a high school person to write. When one person

         18  is asked who is the first president of the United

         19  State was and then the next person has to name a

         20  senator from New Jersey, the discretion that is in

         21  the hands of someone at INS over someone's life is

         22  enormous and is not always handled in the most fair

         23  way.

         24                 Not to say that I've seen every

         25  immigration judge handle their discretion in what I
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          2  would consider to be a fair way, but at least there

          3  would be due process so that if the trial attorney

          4  does not see the logic in not seeking the removal of

          5  Mr. Okorie and those like him, that Mr. Okorie's

          6  counsel could at least make an application to an

          7  immigration judge for that relief and if that

          8  immigration judge denies it, that the Board of

          9  Immigration appeals could hear about it. So that

         10  there is at very least a sense of due process. The

         11  stories I could tell you, we could be here all day.

         12  I am just going to ask that my name be added as a

         13  co- sponsor of this resolution and ask that with the

         14  cooperation of the sponsors that we go back and add

         15  to this the additional request that the act be

         16  amended so that the application can be made as it

         17  was in some form as it was before 1996. Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I don't think my

         20  co- sponsor will have any objection to that. I think

         21  that we will take that into consideration and the

         22  Council will look at that and see how it can be best

         23  worded. At this time, I would like to call on

         24  Council Member Martinez. I think he has a few

         25  questions.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair. Has this been brought to the attention to

          4  any of the U.S. Senator for New York and what has

          5  been their response?

          6                 MR. OKORIE: Yes. Four of them have

          7  written letters of support on my behalf.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Four of

          9  them?

         10                 MR. OKORIE: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, I didn't

         12  say congress. I said senator, Hillary Clinton or

         13  Chuck Schumer?

         14                 MR. OKORIE: Only Hillary Clinton.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Only Hillary

         16  Clinton?

         17                 MR. OKORIE: Yes, sir.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Her office?

         19                 MR. OKORIE: I got a reply from

         20  prosecutor that they would not drop the case. They

         21  would go on with the case.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, I mean

         23  in terms of what has been done on intervention from

         24  their offices; from the Senator's office.

         25                 MR. OKORIE: Well, there is nothing
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          2  more being done. Everything is pending from the

          3  office. They are waiting for the outcome of my next

          4  hearing to determine what happened and what step to

          5  take.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Again, this

          7  is just outrageous that here we are talking someone

          8  who wants to keep his family together and government

          9  is the one that is separating that family. I just

         10  again, the year is key for us in terms of 1996. Many

         11  in our communities, we need to elevate our voices

         12  and make sure that our federal representatives are

         13  aware that there needs to be real changes in the

         14  immigration laws of the United States.

         15  Unfortunately, stories like yours are regular in my

         16  community, the community that I represent. It's

         17  overwhelming the amount of people that are in the

         18  same situation you are. I want to wish you the best

         19  of luck and I also want to join in Council Member

         20  Fidler in offering a letter of support if it will be

         21  helpful to your case. Definitely contact my office

         22  and also I could even though I'm not a lawyer as my

         23  colleague in the corner over there with the

         24  expertise, but we do have an immigration week. I'm

         25  sure if you like, you could also call our office and

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  see how we could also be helpful. We do immigration

          3  every Wednesday in my office. You're welcome to see

          4  how we can be helpful. Thank you.

          5                 MR. OKORIE: Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: If not, I'll

          7  send you down to Fidler's office.

          8                 MR. FIDLER: Mr. Chairman, if I may?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes.

         10                 MR. FIDLER: I just wanted to give a

         11  further response to Council Member Martinez's

         12  concern because I was one of the people who had some

         13  regular dialogue with Senator Clinton's office on

         14  this issue. I think what happened was Senator's

         15  Clinton office did appeal in writing to Department

         16  of Homeland Security and asked for reconsideration

         17  of the case and I think we're about to get a copy of

         18  the letter passed around to the Committee members.

         19  But as I think as Mr. Okorie said, the level of

         20  interest from the federal officials involved was

         21  very low and I think they were dismissive of all of

         22  the public outcry whether it's from our United State

         23  Senator down to the Council Members, down to

         24  community leaders, it's been a consistent pattern of

         25  not recognizing the importance of all this outcry
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          2  and continuing their process unabated unfortunately.

          3                 MS. SHEPHARD: Can I just say there

          4  was discussion about presenting a bill. In fact,

          5  Chibueze Okorie's judge, the judge actually said,

          6  look I've received all these letters and the

          7  petitions and this is great. But you have to tell

          8  the Congressmen and Senators that all I'm doing is

          9  implementing the law that they have created. The

         10  judges frustration even came through with the last

         11  hearing and there was discussion about possibly

         12  presenting a bill to Congress, but it was decided

         13  that the climate was just not right and it wasn't

         14  going to go anywhere.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Who is the

         16  immigration judge?

         17                 MS. SHEPHARD: Elizabeth Lambe

         18  (phonetic).

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Who was the

         20  sponsor of the bill that was being considered?

         21                 MS. SHEPHARD: I think Major Owens had

         22  discussed it.

         23                 MR. OKORIE: Major Owens and

         24  Congressman Aldoph Towne. (phonetic).

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I have one
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          2  question. Do you have any idea what will happen to

          3  your CCR if you were to be deported?

          4                 MR. OKORIE: What do you mean by CCR,

          5  sir?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Your

          7  organization that you formed.

          8                 MR. OKORIE: Oh, I'm sorry. I don't

          9  have any idea. I know it's going to be a waste

         10  because it took me four years to get it together. I

         11  am thinking about it everyday what will happen.

         12                 REV. ALEXANDER: Of course, for the

         13  church, the impact on the church will be tremendous

         14  because his own experience, the example of his life

         15  as Ray Rios mentioned about in his own life, the

         16  impact on the church will be tremendous. The loss

         17  will be great as Ray Rios mentioned. I'm not sure

         18  how we will recover from that. And that's church

         19  community and the community at large. Other churches

         20  and other community organizations in Park Slope look

         21  to us as we have been quoted as being the beacon in

         22  Park Slope; the beacon of light in Park Slope

         23  because of the work we do. And it will be affected.

         24                 MR. OKORIE: Since 1989, I haven't

         25  been out of this country and I have left my Nigeria

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  for a quite number of years now. I have been in the

          3  church. Upon my release, I went straight to the

          4  church. I haven't worked any other places except in

          5  the church. This is where I will say I grew up in

          6  the church. That was the beginning of my fifth

          7  journey up to this time. I'm thinking about what

          8  will happen to all the things I have touched my hand

          9  and everything that is moving on with my life now, I

         10  don't know what will happen including my son and the

         11  organization.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: The last

         13  question I have is, prior to your conviction, how

         14  many years did you have your documentation, your

         15  green card? How many years did you have that?

         16                 MR. OKORIE: Well, what happened, I

         17  didn't process my green card before I got into

         18  trouble. I didn't have the time to do that before I

         19  got into trouble. That is why the problem is much,

         20  much heavier than it is suppose to be.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I'm not talking

         22  about citizenship.

         23                 MR. OKORIE: Yes, I understand what

         24  you're saying.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: We will do
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          2  whatever we can. We want to thank you folks for your

          3  testimony. This has been very heart breaking for us

          4  and understanding that there might be a lot of folks

          5  who are in the same situation as you are. We would

          6  definitely like to do the best we can to help

          7  protect them to keep families together and hopefully

          8  we will have a positive resolution on your case with

          9  the federal government. Thank you.

         10                 MR. OKORIE: Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Our next panel

         12  will be Olivia Cassin, Dr. Gabriela Rodriguez,

         13  Rebecca Schleifer. All right, you can begin by first

         14  identifying yourself and then you can start.

         15                 MS. CASSIN: My name is Olivia Cassin.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Speak into the

         17  mic, please.

         18                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: Hi, good morning. My

         19  name is Gabriela Rodriguez. I'm a physician for

         20  Andrea Mortlock.

         21                 MS. SCHLEIFER: My name is Rebecca

         22  Schleifer. I work with the HIV/AIDS and Human Rights

         23  Program at Human Rights Watch.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: You say you are

         25  the physician for?
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          2                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: Andrea Mortlock.

          3                 MS. CASSIN: Good morning, everybody.

          4  My name is Olivia Cassin as I said. I am the

          5  attorney for Andrea Mortlock. I'm an attorney in the

          6  Immigration Law Unit of the Legal Aid Society. On

          7  behalf of the Legal Aid Society and all of our

          8  clients, including Ms. Mortlock, I would like to

          9  thank Chairman Stewart first of all, for the

         10  opportunity to be here this morning. And I would

         11  also like to thank the Council Members Stewart,

         12  DeBlasio and Liu for introducing this very, very

         13  important resolution.

         14                 The Legal Aid Society has provided

         15  some written testimony. I don't want to take up all

         16  your time this morning, but I would like to say a

         17  few words before answering any questions you may

         18  have. As you know, the Legal Aid Society is the

         19  City's oldest and largest provider of free legal

         20  services for New Yorkers who are in immigration

         21  proceedings. We are the only non- profit

         22  organization that represents individuals deportable

         23  because of criminal convictions like the two very

         24  compelling cases mentioned in your resolution. I

         25  would just like to point out that we represent
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          2  hundreds of people in the same situation.

          3                 Since the '96 changes in the law, we

          4  encounter on a daily basis individuals with very

          5  compelling facts who are subject to mandatory

          6  deportation which is deportation without a

          7  possibility of asserting any defenses. Some of the

          8  people that we encounter present highly compelling

          9  facts like the ones of Andrea Mortlock and Mr.

         10  Okorie. Cases were removal as you all hear from the

         11  other people in this panel, doesn't only cause

         12  separation from family and home, but really exposes

         13  people to life threatening consequences like in Ms.

         14  Mortlock's case.

         15                 Time and time again we asked the

         16  government, the DHS lawyers, the deportation

         17  officers, judges, to exercise prosecutorial

         18  discretion that everyone believes still exist on

         19  some level. But time and time again, we are told

         20  that in this case they cannot exercise discretion

         21  and most of our requests, if not all, are summarily

         22  and routinely denied very, very quickly.

         23                 We applaud really the introduction of

         24  this resolution and your interest and we hope that

         25  the resolution is passed by this Council and in the
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          2  hopes that it will encourage the immigration and

          3  customs enforcement to pursue a more reasonable and

          4  much more humane immigration policy than the one

          5  that they are exercising today.

          6                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: Hi. I also want to

          7  thank Councilman Stewart and everybody here this

          8  morning. This is a very compelling case, as a

          9  physician, not just because of Andrea's illness, but

         10  also because of her family situation and what she

         11  will encounter if she will be deported to Jamaica. I

         12  don't know if this is appropriate or not, but before

         13  she was arrested this last time and my office was

         14  contacted and the officer Carlos, I think is his

         15  name, was kind of threatening to me if I wouldn't

         16  provide information about her whereabouts like she

         17  was a fugitive, et cetera. To my knowledge, she was

         18  going to school and was coming to the office

         19  regularly, so I said why don't you contact her

         20  lawyer and he said he didn't need to contact

         21  anybody. I said if you deport her, she is in very

         22  frail condition and this is going to kill her.

         23                 It's very, I don't know the exact

         24  word, but very touching and terrible feelings that

         25  these patients that are so sick and should be
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          2  concentrating in their health have to go through all

          3  these harassment. I think you all have the

          4  information about her health and I think this period

          5  that she had in jail, I went to visit her there and

          6  she was in very tough condition. She had missed

          7  medications. She was offered the wrong medication.

          8  She suffers from neuropathy that it was not

          9  adequately treated. She is suppose to use an ankle

         10  brace so she doesn't get her foot hurt because of

         11  her neuropathy. She could not lift her foot. That

         12  was not provided. She was asked to go fast when she

         13  was walking and somebody that is limping cannot do

         14  that.

         15                 Her nutrition was not appropriate.

         16  She was taken off some of the medications that she

         17  needs. Also, she was given certain medication that

         18  was not the correct medication that in some cases

         19  this medication if its offered to somebody who has

         20  hypersensitive, the reaction can kill the patient

         21  within hours. I don't know, to me, this is

         22  overwhelming and if you have questions; that's my

         23  testimony in the case.

         24                 MS. SCHLEIFER: First I want to thank

         25  Chairman Stewart for giving me the opportunity to
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          2  testify here at this hearing and I want to also

          3  thank members Stewart, Liu, and DeBlasio for

          4  introducing this bill which I think presents the

          5  opportunity to really save the lives of people like

          6  Andrea Mortlock and really maintain the life of

          7  family members and community as we heard also from

          8  the prior speakers.

          9                 I'm a researcher with the HIV/AIDS

         10  and Human Rights Program at Human Rights Watch. As

         11  you may know, Human Rights Watch is an independent,

         12  international, non- government operation that

         13  conducts investigations of human rights abuses in

         14  more than 80 countries throughout the world and

         15  since 2001, our HIV/AIDS program has been

         16  documenting human rights abuses linked to AIDS and

         17  issued more than 30 reports and numerous policy

         18  briefing papers including on Jamaica. These reports

         19  are based on the first hand testimonies of adults

         20  and children living with and affected by HIV and

         21  whose margin line status puts them at risk of the

         22  disease.

         23                 Based on my own personal knowledge of

         24  the State of Affairs of Jamaica, my review of

         25  documents that have been submitted in her case, my

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  discussions with Ms. Mortlock's attorney and her

          3  physician, I strongly believe that if Ms. Mortlock

          4  is deported to Jamaica, she will risk serious

          5  harassment and discrimination based on her HIV/AIDS

          6  status that will put her life and her health in

          7  jeopardy.

          8                 In my own research in Jamaica, I

          9  found a pattern of violence and discrimination

         10  against people with and at high risk of HIV/AIDS

         11  that pose serious barriers to obtaining medical

         12  care, even getting passage on public and private

         13  transportation, and to be able to live safely in

         14  one's home and with one's family. During the time I

         15  was in Jamaica doing research for a report I wrote

         16  called, Hated to Death, a copy of which I submitted

         17  to the Chairman, I spoke with people living with

         18  HIV/AIDS who had faced abuse by the very doctors and

         19  nurses who were entrusted with their care. People

         20  living with HIV/AIDS, doctors and nurses who are

         21  working with them and AIDS service workers said that

         22  health workers including doctors and nurses provided

         23  inadequate care and sometimes refused to treat them

         24  altogether. Doctors often failed to conduct adequate

         25  medical examinations of people living with HIV/AIDS
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          2  sometimes giving them random medications without

          3  even touching them.

          4                 People living with HIV/AIDS also said

          5  that health workers often released confidential

          6  information about their HIV status without any

          7  permission from their patients. Discrimination and

          8  failure to protect confidential information poses

          9  serious barriers to obtaining necessary medical care

         10  for people living with HIV/AIDS in Jamaica. It

         11  drives many from seeking healthcare services for

         12  themselves and even for their children. It also puts

         13  many people living with HIV/AIDS at risk of eviction

         14  and sometimes death threats from family members.

         15                 I'll going to tell you a few cases

         16  that I heard. The names that I'm using are

         17  pseudonyms. A woman I met called Lenna B spent the

         18  last four months of her pregnancy at the Regional

         19  Hospital. Doctors and nurses there repeatedly

         20  chastised her in front of staff and other patients

         21  for having had sex while living with HIV. They

         22  disclosed her status to family members with whom she

         23  lived who tried to kill her at least three times

         24  after she returned home. The doctors didn't attend

         25  her wounds properly after delivering her baby by
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          2  cesarean section and her wounds became infected.

          3  Lenna B said that based on these experiences, she

          4  would never seek treatment for herself again in the

          5  public health system. Because she had no money to

          6  pay for shelter, she stayed with her children in a

          7  locked room in her family's home to protect herself

          8  and children from violence by her own family

          9  members.

         10                 When I met a boy I'll called Ray B,

         11  he was 18 and he was homeless. After he told his

         12  mother that he was HIV positive, she threatened to

         13  kill him. People who like Andrea Mortlock suffer

         14  from visible HIV related systems, probably have it

         15  even worse. They told me that they were even denied

         16  passage on public and private transportation making

         17  it difficult to obtain any medical care at

         18  facilities beyond walking distance. One HIV positive

         19  woman told me that since she had developed physical

         20  signs of HIV, no public transportation would carry

         21  her and the only private car that would drive her

         22  was prohibitively expensive. She lived miles from

         23  the nearest clinic and as a result got no medical

         24  treatment.

         25                 I released the report that I
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          2  mentioned in November 2004 and since then and both

          3  while doing the research for the report and since

          4  then, I have communicated with high level government

          5  officials. Jamaica government officials had

          6  repeatedly denied that health workers or other

          7  government employees discriminate or otherwise abuse

          8  people living with at risk HIV/AIDS. After release,

          9  Hated to Death, I received a letter from the head of

         10  the AIDS Program, Dr. Utotie Shabra (phonetic) and

         11  he boldly stated that there has not been one single

         12  incident of police violence, threat or harassment

         13  against HIV/AIDS educators and that no information

         14  about the patients is released without the patient's

         15  consent. These claims ignore evidence presented to

         16  the government in our report. They also ignore

         17  evidence submitted by organizations that themselves

         18  were working with the Jamaican government.

         19                 Finally, I just want to say that

         20  based on my own expertise in the treatment of people

         21  living with HIV/AIDS in Jamaica, I believe that

         22  there is a high probability that Andrea Mortlock

         23  will face prosecution by agents of the government

         24  based on government failure or refusal to provide

         25  her with necessary care and medical attention on a
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          2  non- discriminatory basis in a manner that

          3  adequately protects confidential information about

          4  her HIV status. I also believe that there is a high

          5  probability that Ms. Mortlock will be subject to

          6  prosecution, her family, which she has no family

          7  there, but members of the community in which she may

          8  end up living based on her HIV status including

          9  threats of violence and refusal to provide

         10  transportation and housing and medical care because

         11  of her HIV status. I, therefore, strongly urge the

         12  City Council to pass Resolution No. 1153.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Council Member

         14  Martinez.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         16  This is an elaborate report that you mentioned

         17  Jamaica. Unfortunately, many of the people that I

         18  interact that are having to do with issues of

         19  deportation, many of them come from third world

         20  countries and countries that are in developmental

         21  stages and the fact that we usually see a lot of

         22  reports in terms of the infrastructure and the

         23  services that a lot of these countries are not able

         24  to provide or don't provide, but I was wondering has

         25  your agency done a report in terms of how we here in
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          2  the United States through these immigration laws and

          3  I'm sure you have, give me more details, through

          4  these immigration laws are actually putting at risk

          5  the lives of those people that are subject to

          6  deportation. In fact, categorizing it as a violation

          7  of human right, has that ever happened, the United

          8  States?

          9                 MS. SCHLEIFER: You raised a very

         10  important point. Let me say a few things. One is our

         11  office does have the U.S. Program and we do

         12  regularly write reports on human rights abuses

         13  committed by the United States. There is currently a

         14  project that's about to be started on immigration

         15  related violations looking particularly at what

         16  happens to people now that there now no 212 sea

         17  waiver available.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Right.

         19                 MS. SCHLEIFER: We haven't written one

         20  yet.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: That's

         22  interesting to me. Because if we're going to talk

         23  about human right violation and in fact, the rights

         24  of that individuals are being violated here by the

         25  fact that we're deporting them sick or not sick,
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          2  dividing families and I have not seen one report by

          3  any agency that deals with human rights or talks

          4  about human right to talk about the fact that the

          5  United States here, we're violating those principals

          6  of human rights when we separate a family and we

          7  deport someone with HIV to a country that doesn't

          8  have the infrastructure to treat that individual.

          9  I'm wondering, how is that we usually come up with

         10  reports of human rights violation of someone who

         11  could be subject to human right violations and being

         12  deported because he is sick, but I don't hear that

         13  there is a human rights violation by the United

         14  States to deport that individual.

         15                 MS. CASSIN: If I can address your

         16  question for a second, the U.S. Fortunately became a

         17  signatory to something called the Convention Against

         18  Torture that is used by immigration practitioners to

         19  help people stay here saying that the U.S. Would be

         20  violating that convention that protects people

         21  against torture in other countries. We have tried to

         22  use that convention creatively to prevent the

         23  removal of people who would face terrible conditions

         24  like the ones you mentioned in other countries. It

         25  is actually being enforced by immigration judges.
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          2                 In Ms. Mortlock's case in particular,

          3   --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Let me stop

          5  you. What do you mean is being enforced by judges?

          6  What is being enforced?

          7                 MS. CASSIN: If you are granted relief

          8  under the Convention Against Torture, that means

          9  that the U.S. Can't deport someone through their

         10  country of origin because to do so, the U.S.

         11  Immigration authorities would be violating their

         12  obligations under the convention.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: How many

         14  cases do you know that's happened?

         15                 MS. CASSIN: Well, we at Legal Aid

         16  unfortunately have to resort to the convention very

         17  often because the criminal convictions prevent more

         18  traditional forms of relief. But it's not very much

         19  used. In Ms. Mortlock's case, we tried everything we

         20  could. We are making a claim under the Convention

         21  Against Torture and we also filed a petition, a

         22  request with a body of international human rights

         23  commission, a Commission called the InterAmerican

         24  Commission on Human Rights that intervened in Ms.

         25  Mortlock's case and actually advised, issued a
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          2  decision calling on the U.S. State Department to

          3  prevent or to stop for the time being until they

          4  decide the case further; the removal of Ms.

          5  Mortlock's to Jamaica because to send her to Jamaica

          6  would put her life at jeopardy. There are actually

          7  bodies like this InterAmerican Commission that

          8  people can turn too.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I respect

         10  that. But the fact remains, the fact remains that we

         11  are here in the United States, the ones that are

         12  subjecting those individuals to those conditions.

         13  That needs to be clear. Because we can hear reports

         14  of the infrastructure of the healthcare system of a

         15  developing country where an individual is going to

         16  be deported, we can hear of violation that occurred,

         17  civil rights violations and how someone could be at

         18  risk, their freedom, their lives, but we're the one

         19  in fact that are subjecting those individuals to

         20  those conditions. As part of the report, we need to

         21  put this out and speak about that fact. Because we

         22  can hear the report. I know what happens in my

         23  country, I already know that. What I know is that

         24  person is being subject to that condition because

         25  we're doing it by the laws that we apply here in the
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          2  United States.

          3                 I think that connection needs to be

          4  made whenever we make reports of human rights that

          5  the fact is that we're the ones subjecting those

          6  individuals to those conditions. So in fact, we're

          7  as much as guilty of violating those human rights as

          8  the countries that we're claiming are violating

          9  human rights already.

         10                 MS. SCHLEIFER: Let me just make clear

         11  of why I submitted that report. That's the exactly

         12  the argument we're making in her case that for the

         13  United States to deport Andrea Mortlock to a country

         14  where she will risk serious persecution that will

         15  jeopardize her life is a violation of obligations

         16  that the United States has undertaken on its own,

         17  voluntarily when it signed things like the

         18  Convention Against Torture. That's the argument

         19  we're making in this case. I submitted that report

         20  so people would understand this is how the United

         21  States is going to violate those obligations. This

         22  is the kind of torture that she will face if she

         23  goes back.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, I

         25  appreciate that and that point is well taken. But
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          2  the point needs to be clearly stressed that we're

          3  subjecting those people to those violations. In

          4  fact, we are as guilty of violating those rights

          5  with the laws that we have in this country. Thank

          6  you. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: That was quite

          8  an exchange there. I see the point you're trying to

          9  raise there. This country has been by simply

         10  deporting someone that they know, that they know,

         11  will be prosecuted in a different sense, will be put

         12  to the test in terms of their HIV status and what

         13  human rights thing that they will go through. This

         14  country knows that these people will be subjected to

         15  that and that means we are really part and parcel of

         16  that human right violation. That is the point that I

         17  think you are trying to bring out there so that at

         18  least we should think first and before we subject

         19  people to such a situation whereby they may not be

         20  able to live free or even get the opportunity to

         21  live because of the situation in those

         22  underdeveloped countries. We should know that and

         23  the authorities should really know that and they

         24  should at least use their discretion in terms of

         25  when they are making decisions in terms of
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          2  deportation.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Mr. Chair,

          4  can I intervene for a second? Have you thought about

          5  especially with Latin America, the free trades

          6  agreement that are being signed and cast and so

          7  forth, some of these required, for example, to have

          8  exchange with the United States there is some

          9  reference in terms of human rights, labor rights and

         10  so forth. About a year ago, the City Council, a

         11  delegation went to the Dominican Republican to talk

         12  about the issue of deportees and the fact that

         13  you're absolutely right, if you are a deportee, you

         14  don't even have a right to a bank account in the

         15  Dominican Republican. That's how outrageous it is.

         16  There is talks about sort of like a half way house

         17  transitional house for deportees. It is more I think

         18  of a PR situation than anything else. But one of the

         19  issues I raised was that if the Dominican Republican

         20  is going to be part of any free trade agreement,

         21  they have to be measured by the way that they

         22  actually respect human rights and address the issue

         23  of deportees. Obviously, that's not an issue for the

         24  domestic Dominican's, but when we look at that and

         25  putting pressure in terms of Latin American
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          2  countries and any countries that are doing free

          3  trade to be more aware in terms of making business

          4  with the United States, if there are these kind of

          5  issues in terms of the human right violation of the

          6  deportees. Like making that connection --

          7                 MS. SCHLEIFER: I thank you for your

          8  question. Let me just make clear here. I'm an

          9  attorney with a public health background as well and

         10  my expertise at Human Right Watch is on human rights

         11  to subject to HIV.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Oh, okay.

         13                 MS. SCHLEIFER: We do have several

         14  people in my office who do work on DR Cafta and I

         15  can give you their names and you can look on the

         16  website. There are briefing papers on the website

         17  also about these issues.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thanks.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: My last question

         20  if anyone of you can answer, is there any studies

         21  being done as to how one is being deported in terms

         22  of whether there is any relationship to race, in

         23  relation to economic background or anything like

         24  that? Because I see these two cases and I'm

         25  wondering if we have cases of people being deported
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          2  in the same situation, being deported to Poland.

          3                 MS. CASSIN: Unfortunately, I think

          4  there is not a lot of thought put into by the

          5  service about the ICE into who they are going to

          6  deport or who they are not. I think they have a

          7  mandate to apprehend and deport as many people as

          8  possible. They don't differentiate like in Andrea

          9  Mortlock's case between someone who has been

         10  reporting for two years and visibly every month that

         11  she reported for the past two years, she has looked

         12  worse and worse and worse. Her health has been

         13  deteriorating steadily. They didn't even notice

         14  that. They didn't notice that. It didn't even matter

         15  to them. They took her into custody when she

         16  reported complying with their obligations even

         17  though she was visibly very, very ill.

         18                 My personal feeling is that there is

         19  very little forethought into who they are deporting

         20  and who they are not. It would be very worthwhile to

         21  study that. But my sense right now is that they are

         22  going after certain classes of people. They have

         23  given priority to certain classes of people who

         24  committed certain offenses. For instance, there is

         25  this operation predator, they are going after and
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          2  detaining and deporting as quickly as possible

          3  people who have committed any sex offense. Then they

          4  go after absconders, people who didn't surrender,

          5  didn't appear for certain things. I'm not sure, but

          6  it would be very worthwhile to do a study of what

          7  you mean to see if there is selective prosecution.

          8  My sense right now is they are trying too.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes, because I

         10  get the impression we do have violators from all

         11  over the world, but I'm wondering if there is a

         12  stress on the fact that if you remember when the

         13  Patriot Act came out when they first list the

         14  countries that you must get fingerprinted or

         15  pictures and about 13 or 17 countries were exempt.

         16  I'm wondering if the same process is held here in

         17  terms of who they will put through the ringer. I

         18  mean, they may have cases from every part of the

         19  world, but I want to know who they are placing the

         20  stress on and it appears to me it is not those 13 or

         21  17 countries. It is being the other countries, the

         22  undeveloped countries and the minority countries.

         23                 MS. SCHLEIFER: I think I could just

         24  say briefly, I think that your point is very

         25  important and I don't know of any studies. But I
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          2  think it is also true that criminal defendants who

          3  serve time are more likely to be black or Latino in

          4  many cases than they are white especially with drug

          5  convictions which seems to me another class of

          6  people that they are going after. You could probably

          7  look at that as one component. I also think there

          8  are certain countries that are a focus and Jamaica

          9  is one of them; to the extent there is a race and

         10  class component that you could find it there.

         11                 I also just want to state on the

         12  record one thing that I think is important is that

         13  the countries to which people are being deported,

         14  people like Andrea Mortlock, are not all least

         15  developed countries. Jamaica is a fairly developed

         16  country. But it like the United States has some

         17  citizens and some police that are out of control.

         18  And that a lot of the risk that she is facing is by

         19  a health system, by a police system that is much

         20  more developed than in many parts of the world. I

         21  just think that's an important focus of these kind

         22  of hearings. We're not just talking about really

         23  poor countries. We're talking about countries that

         24  have the capacity to do better both the United

         25  States and Jamaica.

                                                            82

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I think if some

          3  of these decisions could be made when we have other

          4  agreements like free trade agreement, I think some

          5  of those things should be looked at with the heads

          6  of government so that the police we can consider

          7  human rights violation and see how they can work

          8  these things out. I understand when we were in Santo

          9  Domingo, it was understood that sometimes the

         10  receiving government doesn't even know who they are

         11  sending back there. These receiving governments may

         12  not be prepared to handle the situation. In this

         13  case, I'm not too sure that the receiving government

         14  will be prepared to handle a case like this young

         15  lady who is HIV positive and is very sick who may

         16  need all the help that she needs. If they are not

         17  prepared, if they were not prepared or warned

         18  before, I don't see it as being any good service to

         19  anyone whether it is the country or even the patient

         20  themselves.

         21                 In that right, I think any agreement

         22  that they have whether it is at a top level, all

         23  these issues should be brought up so that one

         24  country does not just impose these situations on

         25  another country. I'm sure that this young lady may
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          2  have lived here for years and I guess they may have

          3  cases where people come here when they were little

          4  youngsters or maybe four or five years old and so to

          5  be in this situation and they are being sent back

          6  with no relatives, no one there to even receive

          7  them. All those things we have to look at. I think

          8  it is important that the heads of government

          9  consider these things when they having discussions.

         10  At this time, I'd like to call on Council Member

         11  Fidler. I think he has comments.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes, Mr.

         13  Chairman. I have to tell you I think need to put a

         14  little perspective on this. I am sure that people

         15  are familiar with this Committee know that I have

         16  been as critical of the service as any member of

         17  this Committee has been. I think, however, some of

         18  the comments that have been made in the last few

         19  minutes are a little unfair and need to be put into

         20  perspective. Over my two decades of practicing, I

         21  represented most of my clients were people of color;

         22  quite a few from Santo Domingo, Haiti, Jamaica. But

         23  also from Poland, Albanian and Israel and the former

         24  Soviet Union.

         25                 I think perhaps it is fair to suggest

                                                            84

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  that people with greater economic ability have a

          3  better chance of getting through the system for the

          4  same reasons that people with better economic

          5  ability have a better chance at almost anything that

          6  we have in our society. They bring those assets to

          7  bear. They may have private counsel as opposed to an

          8  overburden legal aid or Catholic charities attorney;

          9  many of those things or different ways of beating

         10  the system. But to suggest that the INS is a racist

         11  organization and is concentrating on people of

         12  color, I think is unfair.

         13                 I think we also need to put into

         14  perspective that the people that are subject to

         15  removal are first subject to removal because they do

         16  not have legal status in this country. I will say

         17  this, I have no problem whatsoever with the United

         18  States government targeting people who are here

         19  without proper status who are sexual predators, who

         20  are violent felons, who commit crimes against other

         21  people that are here lawfully, legally or otherwise.

         22  I think we need to maintain a perspective when we

         23  throw terms around like human rights violators.

         24                 There are certainly circumstances in

         25  which results at the service are unjust and that I
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          2  can be extraordinarily critical of just as I was

          3  earlier today regarding Mr. Okorie. It didn't take

          4  me long to be familiar enough with his case to know

          5  that result would be unjust. I'm familiar with CAT

          6  and the Convention Against Torture and how that can

          7  be used to try and keep someone from being sent back

          8  to a country even if they don't have proper legal

          9  status here where their human rights would be

         10  violated in that country.

         11                 You have to remember that we start

         12  off with someone who is before an immigration judge,

         13  before the service because they are not here with

         14  proper legal status. Perhaps frequently because they

         15  violated our penial law. That's got to be mentioned

         16  and it has got to be fair because quite frankly,

         17  while our system is not perfect, to parade the

         18  United States around as a human rights violator, I

         19  think is inappropriate and out of context and

         20  unfair. I just felt that I needed to say that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I'm not too sure

         22  that you get the full picture, Council Member

         23  Fidler, in terms of what we were raising. In that,

         24  there might be someone here, there might be someone

         25  in this country who may have come to this country
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          2  when they were two or three and because they did not

          3  become a citizen after the five year span and they

          4  may have committed some violations. Yes, they may

          5  have committed some crimes. But that's 15 or 20

          6  years ago and they may have served their time And

          7  now they might be in a position whereby deporting

          8  them would be not just deporting them, it might be

          9  more than just deporting them. It might be something

         10  that caused them to be subject to human rights

         11  violations.

         12                 We are saying that these type of

         13  cases should be looked at closer. No one is

         14  encouraging anyone to break the law or anyone who

         15  breaks the law, I think we should go after them. But

         16  at the same time, we have to be able to use our

         17  discretion. The INS should be able to use their

         18  discretion in terms of how they administer these

         19  things. Someone who has changed around their life

         20  and this law of deportation came about not too long

         21  ago. They may have served their time and paid back

         22  dues to society 15, 20 years ago and they are now

         23  being subject to deportation because of the 15 or 20

         24  years ago. This law that was being enacted is

         25  retroactive. And it means then some of the decisions
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          2  that they have made which is maybe a plea bargain,

          3  if they knew that, they would not have plea

          4  bargained.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Mr. Chairman,

          6  you misunderstand me then. Because I agree with

          7  every word you just said and I think when I asked to

          8  be added to the resolution and said the resolution

          9  didn't go far enough because that law needs to be

         10  changed and by the way you bring up the

         11  retroactivity provision and I've argued that in

         12  front of a federal judge. I am emphatically in

         13  agreement with that position. All I am saying is

         14  that to suggest that the application of the laws

         15  here constitute human rights violations, I think is

         16  an over reaching statement and unfair to this

         17  country. And that is all. There are people and I'm

         18  sure that our panelist would admit, there are people

         19  who deserve to be removed. Even if the country they

         20  are going to doesn't have a good record of human

         21  rights as the United States does.

         22                 DR. RODRIGUEZ: Can I add something?

         23  Andrea entered this country as I think as a minor

         24  and she has permanent resident status. She was raped

         25  as a child when she was left by family members. As a
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          2  result of this, she obviously has a very traumatic

          3  experience and it was here when she started using

          4  drugs and that she got into trouble and as a result

          5  of that got HIV. This is a complex issue about the

          6  use of drugs, et cetera, if you hear her talk, she

          7  used drugs to suppress that pain. Sorry.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Please, don't

          9  misunderstand me.

         10                 DR. RODRIGUEZ: No, no.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I was not

         12  commenting on --

         13                 DR. RODRIGUEZ: Let me finish.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: -- On Andrea.

         15                 DR. RODRIGUEZ: Let me finish.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Not at all. I

         17  may if I were more familiar with the full facts of

         18  her case be absolutely a thousand percent on your

         19  side in terms of her relief. I have represented more

         20  than one person before the agency who knew no other

         21  country than this from the time they were a small

         22  child and who's difficulties here all are not of

         23  their own doing. Even those who became of age and

         24  their parents just didn't take care of their status

         25  here and for no other reason, they become removable

                                                            89

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  when brought to the attention of the agency. My

          3  comments have absolutely nothing to do with her and

          4  her case. I am not without compassion for it.

          5                 DR. RODRIGUEZ: I want to continue to

          6  say that she also had a miscarriage at Metropolitan

          7  Hospital where she was left in the bed. She

          8  miscarried in the bed and nobody realized it and she

          9  had the dead baby on her bed for hours.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: All of those

         11  things are outrageous and my heart goes out to her.

         12  Frankly, just the point of human compassion in my

         13  point of view, she should be permitted to stay here.

         14  I'm not talking about the decision. I'm talking

         15  about, the other stuff that we're talking about

         16  where we start tossing around here that the United

         17  States is guilty of human rights violations by

         18  sometimes removing people from this country. She

         19  probably in my view would not be someone who should

         20  not be removed. But when you present to me someone

         21  who even if they were here from a young age,

         22  committed a rape, served ten years in jail, has been

         23  released and has no other redeeming qualities, I

         24  don't have a problem with INS seeking the removal of

         25  that individual who has violated the privilege of

                                                            90

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  being here. To suggest that even if that removal was

          3  to send that person back to a country where they

          4  might be less well off or discriminated against

          5  because they grew up in the United States, I don't

          6  have a real problem -- I have a problem calling that

          7  a human rights violation by the United States.

          8  That's all.

          9                 MS. SCHLEIFER: I just want to say

         10  just be clear, I think there is some

         11  misunderstanding going on here. I don't think any of

         12  us said that. If it was understood that way, that

         13  was a misunderstanding. What we were saying and

         14  trying to make clear was that when the United States

         15  signs certain treaties like the Convention Against

         16  Torture, it has certain obligations that in some

         17  cases is a violation of their obligation to deport

         18  certain people and that we think that is the case in

         19  this situation. And we also wanted to make clear

         20  that in this case, Andrea Mortlock as Dr. Rodriguez

         21  just said, just made clear as well, is a lawful

         22  permanent resident. She is not here in an illegal

         23  status and she has not been here in illegal status

         24  and that deporting her to a country where she would

         25  face such a risk of prosecution would be a violation
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          2  of the United States obligations under treaties that

          3  is voluntary signed.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: You're

          5  probably right. Although I think CAT requires that

          6  the discrimination be official government sponsored

          7  as opposed to just the ignorance of our new

          8  countrymen. But at least under CAT there is some

          9  opportunity for Ms. Mortlock to press that argument

         10  before an immigration judge and be granted relief

         11  and it sounds to me like she should be. The

         12  resolution in Mr. Okorie does not even have that

         13  opportunity because of the change in the act of 1996

         14  to make that application apparently. Again, I'm not

         15  commenting on Ms. Mortlock. I was commenting on some

         16  of the rhetoric in the last few minutes that I think

         17  was a little unfair to the United States, that's

         18  all.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: With that in

         20  mind, any final comments, any --

         21                 MS. CASSIN: I just wanted to thank

         22  you again for the opportunity to be here today and

         23  for the resolution that has already, just the fact

         24  that it was introduced has had an incredible effect

         25  on ICE. We're so happy to let you know because it is
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          2  in the resolution that Ms. Mortlock was actually

          3  released from this horrible detention center called

          4  the Passaic County Jail in Paterson, New Jersey. I

          5  strongly believe partly on account of the

          6  introduction of this resolution and the attention

          7  that the fact that you introduced the resolution got

          8  in the press. We thank you so much on behalf of Ms.

          9  Mortlock for everything you are doing and for

         10  looking at how exceptional cases like the cases of

         11  Mr. Okorie and Ms. Mortlock deserve attention by the

         12  authorities and deserve not to be prosecuted like

         13  the other cases.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I want to thank

         15  you for that comment. We thank you for the good news

         16  that at least she has been released until further

         17  notice from that horrible place. I want to let you

         18  know that we will be working out the amendment to

         19  that resolution that is suggested by Council Member

         20  Fidler. If there is some sort of recourse or sort of

         21  process that can be built into that resolution, we

         22  want to suggest that and we will be sitting down to

         23  do that so that we can have the most effective way

         24  of bringing to the attention of all those folks.

         25  When they do that, at least they put all the pieces
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          2  together to make sure that we don't have this

          3  horrible way of treating people who might need a

          4  second chance or another opportunity. Once again, I

          5  want to thank you and we will call this meeting

          6  adjourned.

          7                 (Meeting adjourned at 1:05 p.m.)
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